1952

Merlene Lodder v. Western Pacific Railroad Company and Richard White : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent and her husband William Lodder commenced this action against The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company and the appellants to recover

damages sustained in an automobile-locomotive collision which occurred at the intersection of 2nd South and 4th West Streets in Salt Lake City (R. 1-2). The complaint is in the form approved by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for situations where the plaintiff is unable to determine definitely whether "CD or EF is responsible or whether both are responsible" (Form 10) and accordingly alleges that one or the other of the three named defendants or any one of three different combinations of the defendants negligently moved the locomotive into the intersection and against the automobile of the plaintiff William Lodder, which he was driving and in which the plaintiff Merlene Lodder was "present" (R. 1). Plaintiff William Lodder prayed for a judgment for the damage to his automobile and the plaintiff Merlene Lodder prayed for judgment for her special damages and \$5,000.00 general damages (R. 2).

Later the plaintiffs filed an amended and supplemental complaint in which the Salt Lake City Union Depot and Railroad Company was added as a party defendant (R. 25). The allegations of negligence in the original complaint were repeated, as were the allegations describing the injuries sustained by the plaintiff Merlene Lodder (R. 25). With respect to the added defendant, it was charged with negligence in having maintained and employed a watchman at the crossing between certain hours for a period of four months before the accident occurred; that the plaintiffs had, during this period, used the crossing frequently during the hours the watchman was on duty and were thereby lead to believe that the crossing would be protected by the watchman and that a warning would be given of the approach of

trains to the intersection; that on the night of the collision the watchman negligently failed and neglected to warn the plaintiffs of the approach of the locomotive to the crossing. The plaintiff Merlene Lodder alleged that as a result of her injuries she had been damaged in the sum of \$50,000.00, plus special damages (R. 25-28). A few minutes before the time set for the trial the plaintiff William Lodder moved to dismiss his complaint without prejudice, which motion was granted (R. 44).

The action was tried to a jury and at the close of the evidence the defendants separately moved for a directed verdict (R. 30-43). The motion for the defendant Salt Lake Union Depot Company was granted (R. 46). No ruling was made on the motions of the other defendants. Although all parties requested that the jury return a general verdict, the court of its own motion directed the jury to return a special verdict (R. 353). The jury answered some of the questions submitted to them in the affirmative and some in the negative (R. 353-6). Immediately upon return of the special verdict the court directed the jury to again retire and assess the amount of damages. The jury assessed the damage in the sum of \$25,000 (R. 351-2).

The defendants, other than the Depot Company, then filed separate motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and in the alternative for a new trial (R. 362-3). The motion of the defendant The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company for judgment notwithstanding the verdict was granted (R. 359). The motions of the appellants for judgment notwithstanding the verdict were denied, but a new trial, limited to the issue of injury and

damage, was granted unless the plaintiff remitted the sum of \$15,000 from the judgment (R. 364). The plaintiff accepted the reduction (R. 366).

The collision occurred at about 9:15 P.M. December 19, 1949.

Second South Street extends east and west and intersects Fourth West Street at right angles (Ex. A).

These streets are each 132 feet wide (Ex. A). Four sets of railroad tracks laid in Fourth West Street intersect Second South Street (Ex. A). The most easterly track crosses Second South Street at an angle of 15 degrees and is referred to in the evidence as Track No. 1 (Ex. A). It branches off from the next westerly track at a switch, which is 55 feet north of Second South (Ex. A). Approximately 170 feet north of Second South is another switch leading to Track No. 1 (Ex. A). The intersection is lighted by two street lights, one located at the northwest corner and the other at the southeast corner (Ex. A).

The Diesel locomotive operated by the appellant White, assisted by hostler helper Bond, was brought from the roundhouse to a point near First South Street, where it was backed in on Track No. 1 and brought to a stop at the third switch north of Second South (R. 188-191). At this point the hostler received a signal from the crossing watchman, who was then in the intersection of Second South and Fourth West (R. 191). Bond lined the switch, gave the hostler a back-up signal and got on the stirrup located at the rear on the left side of the locomotive (R. 231). The locomotive approached the crossing at a rate of speed of about five or six

miles per hour (R. 198). When the rear of the locomotive reached a point a few feet north of the north line of Second South, Bond looked to the east and saw the plaintiffs' automobile approaching (R. 233). He estimated that the automobile was then about 200 feet east of the track on which the locomotive was moving (R. 233). When he first saw the automobile he realized that it would be unable to stop before reaching the railroad track, and, accordingly, jumped off the locomotive and gave the hostler an emergency stop signal (R. 233). The hostler had observed his helper jump off the locomotive and realized that some accident was imminent (R. 195). He applied the independent brakes on the locomotive as Bond jumped off and made an emergency application of the brakes immediately upon receiving the emergency signal (R. 195).

Bond's first apprehension of a collision proved correct. Lodder said that he saw the locomotive when his automobile was about five or six car lengths (15 feet each) from the track, that he immediately shifted into second gear and applied his brakes (R. 84-9). This application of the brakes locked the wheels and the car skidded or slid on the icy street and struck the rear of the locomotive at the point of the stirrup on which Bond had very recently been riding (R. 84-93). The point of collision was 30 feet south of the north curb line of Second South (R. 252). The locomotive moved 61 feet and the automobile 36 feet, both in the same direction, after the impact (R. 252). The automobile was badly damaged and plaintiff received an injury when her head struck the windshield of the auto.

POINTS RELIED ON BY APPELLANTS

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE ANY ACTIONABLE NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF EITHER OF THE APPELLANTS.

POINT II

THE SPECIAL VERDICT IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF.

POINT III

NO FINDING IN SUPPORT OF THE JUDGMENT CAN BE IMPLIED.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AND IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THAT ISSUE AS REQUESTED BY THE DEFENDANTS.

POINT V

IT IS ERROR TO INSTRUCT THE JURY UPON PROPOSITIONS OF LAW NOT APPLIED OR APPLICABLE TO THE ISSUES AND EVIDENCE EVEN THOUGH THE PROPOSITIONS ARE CORRECTLY STATED.

POINT VI

THE COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING TO THE JURY ISSUES UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

POINT VII

THE DEFENDANTS WERE PREVENTED FROM HAVING A FAIR TRIAL BY THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO PERMIT THEIR COUNSEL TO ADDRESS THE JURY AFTER THE SECOND SUBMISSION OF THE CASE.

POINT VIII

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT SETTING ASIDE THE ENTIRE VERDICT AS TAINTED BY PASSION AND PREJUDICE AND GRANTING DEFENDANTS A NEW TRIAL.

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE ANY ACTIONABLE NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF EITHER OF THE APPELLANTS.

The defendants made demand upon the plaintiffs in the form of written interrogatories for a bill of particulars

of the negligence which plaintiffs claimed each defendant was guilty of (R. 7-8). In response thereto, plaintiffs stated under oath that the defendant Richard White was the engineer in charge of the backward movement of the Diesel locomotive and in the course of his employment (1) failed to look and observe in the direction the locomotive was moving so as to apprehend the approach of the plaintiff's automobile and to take reasonable precautions to avoid the collision which could have been avoided if he had kept a proper lookout as the locomotive approached the intersection, (2) failed to cause the bell of the locomotive to be rung as it approached the intersection, (3) failed to cause the whistle or horn of the locomotive to be sounded, (4) failed to cause the rear light of the locomotive to be lighted so as to shine in the direction the locomotive was proceeding, notwithstanding it was dark and snow was falling, and (5) that the defendant railroad companies employed a crossing watchman who failed to proceed into the intersection with a lighted lantern or otherwise and thus to warn approaching motorists, including the plaintiffs, of the presence of the locomotive and its movement into the intersection (R. 9-13). The bill of particulars further stated that if Richard White had maintained a proper lookout and thereafter exercised reasonable control of the locomotive he could have observed the approach of plaintiff's automobile and slowed or stopped the backward movement of the locomotive so as to have avoided the collision with the automobile (R. 11-12).

It will be observed that the bill of particulars does not charge the defendants with any negligent acts or conduct

other than the acts and omissions of the engineer and the crossing watchman, and further that the plaintiffs do not claim or assert that either of the railroads or their servants failed or neglected to give any signal or warning required by any statute or ordinance.

ALLEGED FAILURE TO KEEP A LOOKOUT

The railroad track on which the locomotive was backing crosses Second South at an angle of 15 degrees east of north and south. It extends north of Second South at this angle a distance of approximately 170 feet, although it begins to curve slightly to the west after a point about 60 feet north of Second South (Ex. A). A two-story brick building is located on the northeast corner of the intersection. The southwest corner of this building is 20 feet from the north curb line of Second South and 42 feet east of the center of the tracks on which the locomotive was backing. The intersection is lighted by street lights located on the northwest and southeast corners. The Diesel locomotive consists of three units, their overall length being about 120 feet (R. 183). It is about 15 feet high (R. 183).

It was necessary to back the locomotive down Fourth West Street in order to attach it in the proper position to the Western Pacific train which was destined to go west (R. 188). The locomotive started its backward movement from a point near First South (R. 189). The hostler helper, Bond, who was acting as switchman, got off the engine to check the switch (R. 190). He then gave White the backup signal (R. 143). White operated the locomotive from his seat on the right-hand side of the cab (R. 190). He kept a lookout

in the direction the engine was backing by leaning out the window and turning his head (R. 190). Because of his position in the cab of the locomotive and the location of the building on the northeast corner of the intersection, it was not possible for White to see an automobile approaching from the east until it was practically to the intersection. He saw the automobile for the first time when it was about 20 feet east of the tracks (R. 194). The back of the locomotive was then out into Second South (R. 194). However, he had observed Bond jump off the locomotive before he saw the automobile (R. 195). Bond had boarded the locomotive when it was approximately 170 feet north of Second South (R. 240). He maintained his position on the locomotive by standing in the stirrup and grasping the handhold with his right hand (R. 244). He held his lighted lantern in his left hand (R. 244). He estimated that the automobile was 200 feet east of the tracks when he first observed it (R. 233). At that time the rear of the locomotive was about at the switch nearest Second South (R. 243). Before the rear of the locomotive reached this point Bond had no view of automobiles approaching from the east (R. 245). The moment he saw the automobile he realized that it would be unable to stop before reaching the tracks (R. 233). He immediately jumped off and gave the engineer an emergency stop signal (R. 233). The rear of the locomotive was then just a few feet north of the north curb line of Second South (R. 234). The engineer responded immediately to the emergency signal (R. 235). He applied the brakes as soon as Bond jumped off.

The locomotive traveled about 50 feet from the time Bond jumped off until the automobile collided with it (R.

246). The locomotive was brought to a complete stop with the rear end just about on the south sidewalk of Second South (R. 250).

We ignore the omission in the pleadings of any charge that the defendant Western Pacific Railroad Company failed to maintain a proper lookout for the automobile. It is submitted that there is a complete failure to prove that either of the appellants neglected to maintain a reasonable lookout for the automobile in which the respondent was riding. Bond was stationed on the rear end of the locomotive continuously for at least 170 feet until he jumped off in order to avoid serious injury. He did not jump off until the locomotive was practically into the intersection. He observed the automobile at the first opportunity that it could be observed by a person riding on the stirrup of the locomotive. White, of course, was in no position to keep a lookout for automobiles approaching the intersection from either direction. The railroad did not rely upon White to keep a lookout. It stationed Bond on the rear end of the locomotive where he would be in the best possible position to keep a lookout as the locomotive came into the intersection.

The testimony of White and Bond with respect to lookout for plaintiff's automobile is uncontradicted. It demonstrates that the best possible lookout under the circumstances was maintained and that the automobile was actually seen as soon as the physical conditions at the crossing permitted. In the case of *Van Wagoner v. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, . . . Utah . . . , 186 P. (2d) 293, the evidence with respect to an alleged failure of a train crew to keep a look-

out for automobiles approaching a public crossing was quite similar to the evidence in the case at bar except that in the *Van Wagoner* case there was some evidence that the car stalled momentarily on the crossing before it was struck by the train. This court held that the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to establish a failure to maintain a reasonable lookout.

Furthermore, as pointed out in the *Van Wagoner* case:

“Even were we to assume the train crew failed to keep a proper lookout, appellants must still fail in their assignment, as assuming the truck was stalled for a couple of seconds, if it is intended to submit this question to the jury, there must be a basis for concluding that the failure to keep a lookout proximately contributed to the accident * * *.”

ALLEGED LAST CLEAR CHANCE

In order to establish a causal connection between a failure to keep a lookout for the plaintiff's automobile and the accident, it was incumbent upon the plaintiff to prove that the train crew had a clear opportunity by the exercise of reasonable care to avoid the collision after they saw or should have seen that the driver was in a situation in which he would be unable to stop the automobile short of the track. No such evidence was produced. On the contrary, the uncontroverted facts are that the train crew exercised the highest degree of care to avoid the collision after they saw or could possibly have seen that the driver was in a situation in which it was impossible for him to stop.

As has already been pointed out, Bond saw the automobile as soon as it was possible in his position to see it. He

had assumed the most advantageous position possible on the locomotive to maintain a lookout for automobiles approaching from the east. Unquestionably, the driver was in a position of peril when Bond first observed the automobile. It was then skidding and completely out of control, Bond instantly realized that it would be unable to stop before reaching the tracks. He immediately jumped off the locomotive and gave an emergency stop signal to the engineer. The latter had anticipated the emergency signal and applied the independent brakes as soon as Bond jumped off. The application of the emergency brake automatically applied sand to the rails, and the locomotive was brought to a stop before it had cleared the crossing. There is not even an intimation in the evidence that this locomotive could have been stopped in any shorter distance than it was stopped. There was not the slightest delay on the part of Bond in signaling the engineer to stop after he saw the approaching automobile. He did not give an ordinary stop signal, but called for an emergency stop. There was not the slightest delay on the part of the engineer in responding to the stop signal. In fact, he started to stop the locomotive the moment he saw Bond jump off.

It may be that the train crew did not give any signal to the driver after they discovered or should have discovered the perilous situation in which he had placed himself. Obviously, no signal of any kind from the train crew at that time could possibly have enabled him to avoid the collision. At that time he had lost all control over his vehicle and nothing but an immovable object could have prevented him from reaching the tracks.

The allegations in the bill of particulars to the effect that the train crew failed to keep a reasonable lookout and failed to exercise reasonable care to stop the locomotive after a reasonable lookout would have disclosed the inability of the driver of the automobile to stop is an attempt to invoke what is referred to commonly as the last clear chance doctrine.

This court has already pointed out that the doctrine of last clear chance is seldom, if ever, applicable in a crossing case. See *Holmgren v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, . . . Utah . . . , 198 P. (2d) 459. In the case cited the facts necessary to be established by the plaintiff in order to invoke the last clear chance proposition are stated thus at page 463 of the Pacific citation:

“This court has more than once cited with approval the rule of last clear chance stated in the American Law Institute Restatement of Torts, Sec. 480, which reads as follows:

“‘A plaintiff who by the exercise of reasonable vigilance could have observed the danger created by the defendant’s negligence in time to have avoided harm therefrom, may recover if, but only if, the defendant

“‘(a) knew of the plaintiff’s situation;

“‘(b) *realized or had reason to realize that the plaintiff was inattentive and therefore unlikely to discover his peril in time to avoid the harm, and*

“‘(c) thereafter is negligent in failing to utilize with reasonable care and competence his then existing ability to avoid harming the plaintiff.’ (Italics added.)

“In amplification of this rule, and particularly subparagraph (b) thereof, we have said that ‘to

hold the defendant liable it must plainly appear to the jury that defendant knew or reasonably should have known of plaintiff's * * * inattention and after such realization or after he reasonably, had he been conducting himself with the vigilance required of him, should have known it, "is negligent in failing to utilize with reasonable care and competence his then existing ability to avoid harming the plaintiff." In the clear chance doctrine the plaintiff's negligence has become in a sense fixed and realizable and on to this state of things defendant approaches on to the negligent plaintiff with and in control of the danger.' *Graham v. Johnson*, 109 Utah 346, 166 P. 2d 230, 235, 236."

and in the case of *Van Wagoner v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, ... Utah ..., 186 P. (2d) 293, at page 302 of the Pacific citation:

"The engineer or other members of the train crew could assume the deceased would stop until he was so close to the track that a reasonable person would know otherwise. Undoubtedly when deceased cleared the one tree some 20 feet from the crossing, it would be apparent that he did not intend to stop. Disregarding the testimony of two members of the crew that when they did see the truck clear this tree they gave the emergency signal, appellants' evidence only permits one or two seconds for the train crew to have taken the necessary steps to have prevented the accident. This is not giving the defendant the last clear chance. *The opportunity to avoid the accident must not be a possibility; it must be a clear opportunity.* Not even by speculation could the jury reach a verdict on the theory that the train crew had time to appreciate that deceased was negligent and that by reasonable means they could have avoided the ensuing collision. *When, as in this jurisdiction, a train has the preferred right of way, its operator*

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