1952

Merlene Lodder v. Western Pacific Railroad Company and Richard White : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

See: 53 Am. Jur. 756, Sections 1090, 1091; 64 CJ 1166, Section 955.

(b)

Appellants contend that the findings with respect to the watchman and his failure to signal, "fall far short of a finding that the defendants failed to give reasonable warning of the approach of the locomotive." (Brief page 41).

It is not disputed that the appellant railroad had, prior to the accident, voluntarily assumed the duty of maintaining a crossing watchman or flagman at the intersection in question (R. p. 16 and 21, No. 10). It is also undisputed that the plaintiff and her husband, the driver of the car, were aware of the practice of the railroad in maintaining a crossing watchman at this intersection, had come to rely upon this method of warning, and were misled into believing that no train was approaching at the time of the collision

by reason of the failure of the watchman to be stationed in the intersection and to give timely warning of the approaching locomotive. (R. p. 66-68, 150-151, 153, 172)

In view of this circumstance, the duty was not merely to give a "reasonable warning." The duty was that assumed by the appellant railroad—namely, to give timely warning of the approach of a locomotive to the intersection through the medium of the crossing watchman or flagman. Any warning short of this warning would not, as a matter of law, be a reasonable warning. Therefore, the court properly elicited a finding of an ultimate fact by its Interrogatories No. 10 and 11. In response to these questions the jury found "that there was a watchman or flagman on duty at the intersection and at the time of the collision" and that "the watchman or flagman negligently failed to be stationed in the intersection or that he negligently failed to signal the plaintiff or the driver of her car that a locomotive was approaching."

In view of these answers to Questions No. 10 and 11, plus the uncontroverted evidence as to plaintiff's knowledge of and reliance upon the watchman or flagman, the trial court had no alternative but to find the issue of negligence against appellants, as a matter of law.

As stated at 74 C.J.S. 1354 (Section 728):

“Where a flagman is employed or a gate established, the person in charge is bound to perform his duties with reasonable care and prudence, and a failure to do so is negligence for which the railroad company is liable. It is negligence for a gate keeper or flagman to leave his post, knowing that an engine is approaching, without giving some signal of danger . . . ”

See to the same effect: 44 Am. Jur. 771, Sections 526 and 527, Restatement of Torts, Section 301, Comment (f); 71 ALR 1160 at 1177, *Bluhm v. Bryan*, 193 Wis. 346, 214 N W364.

Respondents concede, however, that in view of the findings that the bell on the locomotive was rung and that the light on the south end of the locomotive was burning prior to the collision, it might have been error for the trial court to conclude, as a matter of law, that the failure of the watchman to give timely warning was the proximate cause of the collision and of the injuries sustained by the plaintiff. The trial court did not make this mistake of passing on proximate cause, but specifically asked the jury, in Question No. 12:

“Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that such negligence (failure of the watchman to be stationed in the intersection or to signal) was a proximate cause of the injuries?”

To which the jury answered, "Yes."

Appellants do not complain that there were insufficient facts to warrant submitting the issue of proximate cause to the jury. No doubt the fact that the bell was at the north end of a 120-foot unit (R. p. 183, 185), was separated from the street by intervening buildings, and that the small light on the south end of the locomotive was not seen by respondents but was diffused in an intersection which was thoroughly lighted by two sodium lamps. (R. pp. 54 to 56), and was also obscured by an extension on the end of the locomotive (R. 218), warranted the court in believing that the jury question as to proximation did, in fact, exist.

(2)

Appellants further complain of the insufficiency of the special verdict (Br. p. 42) on the ground that Question No. 7 falls short of being a finding that "the trainmen negligently failed to keep a reasonable lookout for plaintiff's automobile as the locomotive approached the intersection." The actual language of the question is whether "the train men on the locomotive negligently failed to keep a lookout for automobiles crossing the intersection." This question was answered, "Yes."

Appellants' point seems to be that the duty was to watch out for automobiles "approaching" the intersection, not for automobiles "crossing" the intersection. This would seem to be strictly a point without a prick. No jury could be expected to take so narrow a view of the question.

As stated at 64 CJ 1185 (Sec. 974):

"A special verdict, finding or answer is to be construed liberally with a view of ascertaining the intention of the jury. . . . It must be borne in mind that the jury may employ a term in its common rather than its technically correct sense; and the findings should be held to have the meaning that the average juror would understand them to have."

Particularly when Question 7 is read together with Question 8, it is evident that the finding is in substance that the trainman failed to keep "the lookout of reasonable prudent persons under the circumstance."

"A special verdict, finding or answer is to be construed as a whole, and where there are two or more answers or findings, they are to be construed together. Also, all the special issues submitted to the jury for answers must be considered together as a whole." (64 CJ, Sec. 975.)

Appellants further contend that Finding No. 8 does not establish that the train crew had a clear-cut opportunity to stop the locomotive or give the signal in time to enable the plaintiff to stop the automobile and thus avoid the collision. (Brief, p. 43)

No complaint is made by appellants in this section of their brief that the facts do not warrant the submission of Question No. 8 to the jury.

We submit that Question 8 and the affirmative answer, particularly when read together with Question 7, is a specific finding that the train crew did have a clear opportunity to stop or signal so as to avoid the collision.

Apparently the real basis of the attack upon this portion of the verdict is that the facts do not warrant the submission of Question 8 to the jury, since there is no evidence from which the jury could find that the hostler was made or could have been made aware of the approach of the automobile sufficiently early to sound a warning whistle which would have been "a benefit to either the driver or the plaintiff."

The blowing of the whistle "after it was apparent to the trainmen or should have been apparent to a reasonable prudent person that the driver of the automobile was not going to stop his automobile be-

fore driving into the path of the locomotive” is not as appellants would lead the Court to believe, the same thing as a question whether the whistle could have been blown “after the train crew saw the peril of the automobile” and “it was much too late to afford any benefit to either the driver or the plaintiff.” (Brief, p. 44)

Under the evidence which went to the jury (R. p. 233) the jury could have concluded that Mr. White, the hostler, was given a signal when the automobile was 200 feet east of the tracks. A whistle signal at that point might very well have been sufficient to give the driver timely warning of the approach of the locomotive so that he could have brought his car to a slow and gradual stop, notwithstanding the presence of the ice.

(4)

It will be evident to the Court from the foregoing that Respondent contends and represents that the special verdict was, in all particulars, sufficient as a matter of fact to support the judgment rendered. Respondent believes she has demonstrated the following:

(1) The answers to Question 3, 4, 10, 11, and 12 establish that defendants failed, as a matter of fact, to give the whistle warning of the approach of

the locomotive to the crossing which was required by the statute, in the one instance, and the flagman warning which was required by the voluntarily adopted practice of the defendants, in the other instance.

(2) That the answers to Questions 8 and 9 establish that the trainmen failed to keep the lookout of a reasonable, prudent persons under the circumstances.

(3) That the answers to Questions 8 and 9 further established that the trainmen failed to exercise reasonable care to avoid the collision by giving a timely whistle warning after a reasonable lookout did disclose to them that the automobile was 200 feet east of the track and when such a warning would have permitted the driver to bring his car to a gradual and safe stop short of the tracks.

(4) That the answers to Questions 8 and 9 established that the trainmen failed to exercise reasonable care by stopping the locomotive in time to avoid the collision.

(5) That the answers to Questions 4, 9, and 12 establish that the foregoing negligence of the trainmen was the proximate cause of the collision and of the injuries suffered by the plaintiff.

☆ ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆

It is evident therefore, that the trial court was not obliged to imply any findings of fact to support the judgment. Hence, the argument of appellants' Point III, to the effect that "no finding in support of the judgment can be implied," is beside the point and raises an issue of law which has no applicability in this case.

However, the Court may be interested in an analysis of Rule 49(a) and of appellants interpretation and application thereof as developed on pages 48 and 49 of their Brief, wherein certain Texas authorities are cited and relied upon.

The Texas cases have reference to entire omitted issues and separate defenses rather than to additional findings which may be a part of and related to existing issues or defenses. The correct application of URCP 49(a) is to be found in the case of *Hinshaw vs. New England Mutual Life Insurance Company*, 104 Fed. 2d 45, in which case Federal Civil Rule 49(a) was construed to mean exactly what it says:

"If . . . the court omits any issue of fact raised by the pleadings or evidence, each party waives his right to a trial by jury of the issue so omitted unless before the jury retires he demands its submission to the jury. As to an issue omitted without such demand, the court may make a finding, or if it fails to do so, it shall be deemed to have made a finding in accord with the judgment on the special verdict."

Respondent submits that a Texas decision more helpful and more pertinent is the case of *Panhandle and S. R. Ry. Co. vs. Friend* (Tex.), 91 SW 2d, 922. In that case the court ruled that

“... where issues are submitted which are clearly referable to a specific ground of recovery, it is the manifest purpose of the statute that omissions in the charge will be supplied by presumption of finding, when there is supporting evidence.”

Appellants refer at page 45 of their Brief to Section 104-25-1, UCA 1943, which defines a special verdict in a manner which apparently they claim is favorable to them. This section was superseded January 1, 1950, by Rule 49 URCP (see U.R.C.P. Table I, p. 183, and Table III, p. 18), and thus the statute could have neither controlling nor persuasive effect herein. Rule 49 gives complete support to respondent's position. If appellants must rely on Section 104-25-1 to sustain their position, then that position is necessarily without merit.

(5)

Appellants finally complain (Brief, pp. 50-51) that (a) the trial court submitted a special verdict to the jury without the parties having requested such a procedure; (b) appellants were not given “any

notice” of the court’s intention to so instruct; and (c) appellants were not given any opportunity to prepare requests for submission to the jury “covering any special issues.”

(a)

Rule 49(a) does not require that the special verdict be used only when invoked by counsel. Quite to the contrary, it expressly provides that “the court” may submit written interrogatories and may require a special verdict.

(b)

The record plainly shows (R. 307-8) that appellants were given notice of the trial court’s intention to submit special interrogatories; that both Mr. Jensen and Mr. Bagley did, in fact, make suggestions as to the content of the interrogatories; that appellants suggested that a question be submitted to the jury which would permit a finding as to whether Mr. Lodder’s alleged negligent driving and the icy condition of the street were the sole proximate cause of the accident; that the trial court quite properly ruled that this suggestion would add nothing to the proposed interrogatories, since Questions 13, 14 and 15 squarely tested the jury’s conclusions on this very issue. Since the jury expressly found that Mr. Lodder did not drive the automobile “into the intersection

at a rate of speed that was greater than was safe, reasonable, and prudent, having regard to all surrounding circumstances then existing," or "without keeping the same lookout which a reasonably prudent person would have kept under the same circumstances then existing," it is extremely difficult to see how appellants could possibly be prejudiced if this was the only suggestion they had for a further issue.

☆ ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆

Appellants made no further requests or suggestions for interrogatories, excepting to remind the court that, in their opinion, there were no issues of fact whatsoever which should be submitted to the jury. This had already been covered by their request for directed verdict. Appellants did not ask for time or other opportunity to consider further the special verdict.

Appellants' position throughout this case demonstrates a thorough failure to distinguish the situation wherein the driver of an automobile, either not knowing of the ice or coming upon it at the last minute, would *not* have slowed earlier had he been timely warned, as against the situation here presented, where the driver knew he was on ice, was driving with regard for this very circumstance, and would have commenced to brake and slow earlier and with

adequate gradualness had he received the timely warning which the railroad and its employees were obliged to give. It is evident that the trial court perceived this very distinction at this point in the case, for, at page 307 of the Record, he responds to counsel's suggestions for additional interrogatories by pointing out that the presence of the ice would be an intervening cause only where "ice is inserted suddenly when you are driving on a highway."

Since the trial court not only submitted the proposed special verdict to counsel for both parties but, beyond this, warned them as to the effect of their failure to make requests covering all issues (R. p. 307) and then fully and frankly discussed the coverage of the proposed interrogatories with counsel, it can scarcely be error that appellants failed to suggest anything further of merit. This is hardly the situation which was presented in *Pittsburg R. Co. vs. Smith*, 207 Ill. 486, 69 NE 873, relied upon by appellants (Brief, p. 51,) as even a cursory reading of that case will demonstrate.

Point IV

THE COURT PROPERLY SUBMITTED ALL MATERIAL ISSUES AND INSTRUCTED ON THEM

Appellants' contention under point IV of their brief is that the court erred in failing to submit to the jury the question of whether plaintiff was negligent, and whether her negligence, if any, contributed to the collision. The specific complaint is that the trial court failed to submit to the jury the issue of whether in the exercise of reasonable care the plaintiff should have protested against the alleged unreasonable and unlawful rate of speed at which her husband approached the tracks.

The answer to this contention may best be divided into three parts:

(1)

In answer to interrogatory No. 3, served by plaintiff on the defendant railroad, the railroad stated that the negligence of the plaintiff upon which they relied to defeat her claim was:

“The plaintiff, Merlene Lodder failed to hear the bell and whistle warning of the approaching engine or failed to heed said warning and communicate the knowledge she had or should have had to the driver at a time

when the said warnings were clearly audible; plaintiff failed to look for or see or heed the approaching engine and communicate the knowledge she had or should have had to the driver so that he would slow up or stop his automobile at a time when the engine was plainly visible; plaintiff failed to maintain a proper lookout as she approached the railroad crossing and communicate timely warning to the driver of the automobile.”

No mention was ever made of a claimed issue of contributory negligence in failing to tell her husband to diminish an alleged unlawful rate of speed. Therefore, this issue was not raised either by the pleadings or the answers to the interrogatories.

(2)

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